## The Wages Code,

[Act 29 of 2019]

along with

Wages (Central Advisory Board) Rules, 2021

Payment of Wages Act, 1936

Payment of Wages (Procedure) Rules, 1937

Payment of Wages (Procedure) Application to Scheduled Employments Rules, 1962

Payment of Wages (Manner of Recovery of Excess Deductions) Rules, 1966

**Rules Regarding Imposition of Penalties** 

Payment of Wages (Air Transport Services) Rules, 1968

Payment of Wages (Mines) Rules, 1956

Payment of Wages (Railways) Rules, 1938

Payment of Undisbursed Wages (Air Transport Service) Rules, 1988

Payment of Undisbursed Wages (Mines) Rules, 1989

Payment of Wages (Deductions for National Defence Fund and Defence Savings Scheme) Rules, 1972

Payment of Wages (Nomination) Rules, 2009

Minimum Wages Act, 1948

Minimum Wages (Central) Rules, 1950

Minimum Wages (Central Advisory Board) Rules, 2011

Payment of Bonus Act, 1965

Payment of Bonus Rules, 1975

Equal Remuneration Act, 1976

Equal Remuneration Rules, 1976

and

Case Law

EBC

Lucknow | Delhi | Prayagraj | Guwahati Bengaluru | Ahmedabad | Nagpur

COURT NO.2

Book No... 121....

COURT OF TRIP

1 8 OCT 2020

Barrode: 0028423

Catlq. No ....

## The

Accessi No 4-25

Wages Code, 2019

## **CONTENTS**

Book No. .... A. A. A. ...

#### CHAPTER I **PRELIMINARY**

1.	Short title, extent and commencement	6
2.	Definitions	6
3.	Prohibition of discrimination on ground of gender	11
4.	Decision as to disputes with regard to same or similar nature of work	12
	CHAPTER II MINIMUM WAGES	
5.	Payment of minimum rate of wages	12
6.	Fixation of minimum wages	12
7.	Components of minimum wages	13
8.	Procedure for fixing and revising minimum wages	13
9.	Power of Central Government to fix floor wage	14
10.	Wages of employee who works for less than normal working day	15
11.	Wages for two or more classes of work	15
12.	Minimum time rate wages for piece work	15
13.	Fixing hours of work for normal working day	15
14.	Wages for overtime work	16
	CHAPTER III PAYMENT OF WAGES	
15.	Mode of payment of wages	16
16.	Fixation of wage period	16
17.	Time limit for payment of wages	17
18.	Deductions which may be made from wages	17
19.	Fines	19
20.	Deductions for absence from duty	20
21.	Deductions for damage or loss	20
22.	Deductions for services rendered	21

Seci	tions		Pages
	23.	Deductions for recovery of advances	21
	24.	Deductions for recovery of loans	21
	25.	Chapter not to apply to Government establishments	21
		CHAPTER IV PAYMENT OF BONUS	21
	26.	Eligibility for bonus, etc.	2.
	27.	Proportionate reduction in bonus in certain cases	21
	28.	Computation of number of working days	23
	29.	Disqualification for bonus	23
	30.	Establishments to include departments, undertakings and branches	24 24
	31.	Payment of bonus out of allocable surplus	24
	32.	Computation of gross profits	24
	33.	Computation of available surplus	25
	34.	Sums deductible from gross profits	25
	35.	Calculation of direct tax payable by employer	25
	36.	Set on and set off of allocable surplus	26
3	37.	Adjustment of customary or interim bonus against bonus payable under this Code	27
,	38.	Deduction of certain amounts from bonus payable	27
	39.	Time limit for payment of bonus	27
	40.	Application of this Chapter to establishments in public sector in	21
•	+∪.	certain cases	28
	41.	Non-applicability of this Chapter	28
		CHAPTER V	
		ADVISORY BOARD	
4	12.	Central Advisory Board and State Advisory Boards	29
7	2.	CHAPTER VI	
		PAYMENT OF DUES, CLAIMS AND AUDIT	
4	3. 1	Responsibility for payment of various dues	31
44		Payment of various undisbursed dues in case of death of employee	31
45		Claims under Code and procedure thereof	31
46		Reference of disputes under this Code	
		Presumption about accuracy of balance sheet and profit and loss	
47		account of corporations and companies	. 33
48	3. A	Audit of account of employers not being corporations o	. 34
49	). A	appeal	. 34

Secti	ions		Pages
	50.	Records, returns and notices	35
		CHAPTER VII INSPECTOR-CUM-FACILITATOR	
	51.	Appointment of Inspector-cum-Facilitators and their powers	35
		CHAPTER VIII OFFENCES AND PENALTIES	
	52.	Cognizance of offences	37
	53.	Power of officers of appropriate Government to impose penalty in certain cases	37
	54.	Penalties for offences	37
	55.	Offences by companies	38
	56.	Composition of offences	39
		CHAPTER IX MISCELLANEOUS	
	57.	Bar of suits	40
	58.	Protection of action taken in good faith	40
	59.	Burden of proof	40
	60.	Contracting out	40
	61.	Effect of laws agreements, etc. Inconsistent with this Code	40
	62.	Delegation of powers	40
	63.	Exemption of employer from liability in certain cases	41
	64.	Protection against attachments of assets of employer with Government	41
	65.	Power of Central Government to give directions	41
	66.	Saving	41
	67.	Power of appropriate Government to make rules	41
	68.	Power to remove difficulties	44
	69.	Repeal and savings	44

# The Wages Code, 2019

[Act 29 of 2019]

[8th August, 2019]

An Act to amend and consolidate the laws relating to wages and bonus and matters connected therewith or incidental thereto

Be it enacted by Parliament in the Seventieth Year of the Republic of India as follows—

Statement of Objects and Reasons.—The Second National Commission on Labour, which submitted its report in June, 2002, had recommended that the existing set of labour laws should be broadly amalgamated into the following groups, namely—

- (a) industrial relations;
- (b) wages;
- (c) social security;
- (d) safety; and
- (e) welfare and working conditions.
- 2. In pursuance of the recommendations of the said Commission and the deliberations made in the tripartite meeting comprising of the Government, employers' and industry representatives, it has been decided to bring the proposed legislation. The proposed legislation intends to amalgamate, simplify and rationalise the relevant provisions of the following four central labour enactments relating to wages, namely—
  - (a) the Payment of Wages Act, 1936;
  - (b) the Minimum Wages Act, 1948;
  - (c) the Payment of Bonus Act, 1965; and
  - (d) the Equal Remuneration Act, 1976.
- 3. The amalgamation of the said laws will facilitate the implementation and also remove the multiplicity of definitions and authorities without compromising on the basic concepts of welfare and benefits to workers. The proposed legislation would bring the use of technology in its enforcement. All these measures would bring transparency and accountability which would lead to more effective enforcement. Widening the scope of minimum wages to all workers would be a big step for equity. The facilitation for ease of compliance of labour laws will promote in setting up of more enterprises thus catalyzing the creation of employment opportunities.
  - 4. The salient features of the Code on Wages, 2019, inter alia, are as follows—
    - (a) it provides for all essential elements relating to wages, equal remuneration, its payment and bonus;
    - (b) the provisions relating to wages shall be applicable to all employments covering both organised as well as un-organised sectors;
    - (c) the power to fix minimum wages continues to be vested in the Central Government as well the State Government in their respective sphere;
  - (d) it enables the appropriate Government to determine the factors by which the minimum wages shall be fixed for different category of employees. The factors shall be determined taking into account the skills required, the arduousness of the work assigned, geographical

<sup>1.</sup> Received the assent of the President on August 8, 2019 and published in the Gazette of India, Extra., Part II, Section 1, dated 8th August, 2019, pp. 1-29, No. 48

- location of the workplace and other aspects which the appropriate Government considers necessary;
- (e) the provisions relating to timely payment of wages and authorised deductions from wages, which are presently applicable only in respect of employees drawing wages of twenty-four thousand rupees per month, shall be made applicable to all employees irrespective of wage ceiling. The appropriate Government may extend the coverage of such provisions to the Government establishments also;
- (f) it provides that the wages to employees may also be paid by cheque or through digital or electronic mode or by crediting it in the bank account of the employee. However, the appropriate Government may specify the industrial or other establishment, where the wages are to be paid only by cheque or through digital or electronic mode or by crediting the wages in the bank account of the employee;
- (g) it provides for floor wage for different geographical areas so as to ensure that no State Government fixes the minimum wage below the floor wage notified for that area by the Central Government:
- (h) in order to remove the arbitrariness and malpractices in inspection, it empowers the appropriate Government to appoint Inspectors-cum-Facilitators in the place of Inspectors, who would supply information and advice the employers and workers;
- (i) it empowers the appropriate Government to determine the ceiling of wage limit for the purpose of eligibility of bonus and calculation of bonus;
- (j) in the place of number of authorities at multiple levels, it empowers the appropriate Government to appoint one or more authorities to hear and decide the claims under the proposed legislation;
- (k) it enables the appropriate Government to establish an appellate authority to hear appeals for speedy, cheaper and efficient redressal of grievances and settlement of claims;
- (1) it provides for graded penalty for different types of contraventions of the provisions of the proposed legislation;
- (m) it provides that the Inspector-cum-Facilitator shall give an opportunity to the employer before initiation of prosecution proceedings in cases of contravention, so as to comply with the provisions of the proposed legislation. However, in case of repetition of the contravention within a period of five years such opportunity shall not be provided;
- (n) it provides for the appointment of officers not below the rank of Under Secretary to the Government of India or an officer of equivalent level in the State Government to dispose of cases punishable only with fine up to fifty thousand rupees, so as to reduce the burden on subordinate judiciary;
- (o) it provides for compounding of those offences which are not punishable with imprisonment;
- (p) it provides that where a claim has been filed for non-payment of remuneration or bonus or less payment of wages or bonus or on account of making deduction not authorised by the proposed legislation, the burden shall be on the employer to prove that the said dues have been paid to the employee;
- (q) it enables the appropriate Government to constitute Advisory Boards at Central and State level to advice the Central Government and the State Governments, respectively, on matters relating to wages, women employment, etc.;
- (r) the period of limitation for filing of claims by a worker has been enhanced to three years, as against the existing time period varying from six months to two years, to provide a worker more time to settle his claims.
- 5. The Code on Wages, 2017, on similar lines, was introduced and referred to the Department-related Parliamentary Standing Committee on Labour, which submitted its forty-third Report on 18th December, 2018. However, before the said Bill could be passed in the said House, it lapsed on dissolution of the Sixteenth Lok Sabha. Hence, the Code on Wages, 2019.

- 6. The Notes on Clauses explain in detail the various provisions contained in the Bill.
- 7. The Bill seeks to achieve the above objectives.

#### CHAPTER I PRELIMINARY

- 1. Short title, extent and commencement.—(1) This Act may be called the Code on Wages, 2019.
  - (2) It extends to the whole of India.
- (3) It shall come into force on such date as the Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette appoint; and different dates may be appointed for different provisions of this Code and any reference in any such provision to the commencement of this Code shall be construed as a reference to the coming into force of that provision.

Corresponding Law: S. 1(1), (2) & (3) of PWA, 1936; S. 1 of MWA, 1948; S. 1(1), (2) & (4) of PBA, 1965; S. 1 of ERA, 1976.

#### **NOTIFICATION**

S.O. 4604(E), dt. 18-12-2020.—In exercise of the powers conferred by sub-section (3) of Section 1 of the Code on Wages, 2019 (29 of 2019) read with Section 14 of the General Clauses Act, 1897 (10 of 1897), the Central Government hereby appoints the date of publication of this notification in the Official Gazette as the date on which the following provisions of the said Code shall come into force, namely—

Sl. No.	Provisions of the Code
(1)	Sub-sections (1), (2), (3), (10) and (11) of Section 42 (to the extent they relate to the Central Advisory Board);
(2)	Clauses (s) and (t) of sub-section (2) of Section 67 (to the extent they relate to the Central Advisory Board);
(3)	Section 69 [to the extent it relates to Sections 7 and 9 (to the extent they relate to the Central Government) and Section 8 of the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 (11 of 1948)].

[Vide S.O. 4604(E), dated 18-12-2020, published in the Gazette of India, Extra., Part II, Section 3(ii), dated 18-12-2020, No. 4041]

- 2. Definitions.—In this Code, unless the context otherwise requires,—
- (a) "accounting year" means the year commencing on the 1st day of April; Corresponding Law: S. 2(1)(iii)(a) of PBA, 1965.
  - (b) "Advisory Board" means the Central Advisory Board or, as the case may be, the State Advisory Board, constituted under Section 42;
- (c) "agricultural income tax law" means any law for the time being in force relating to the levy of tax on agricultural income;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(3) of PBA, 1965.

- (d) "appropriate Government" means,—
  - (i) in relation to, an establishment carried on by or under the authority of the Central Government or the establishment of railways, mines, oil field, major ports, air transport service, telecommunication, banking and insurance company or a

corporation or other authority established by a Central Act or a central public sector undertaking or subsidiary companies set up by central public sector undertakings or autonomous bodies owned or controlled by the Central Government, including establishment of contractors for the purposes of such establishment, corporation or other authority, central public sector undertakings, subsidiary companies or autonomous bodies, as the case may be, the Central Government;

(ii) in relation to any other establishment, the State Government;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(i) of PWA, 1936; S. 2(b) of MWA, 1948; S. 2(5) of PBA, 1965; S. 2(a) of ERA, 1976.

(e) "company" means a company as defined in clause (20) of Section 2 of the Companies Act, 2013 (18 of 2013);

Corresponding Law: S. 2(9) of PBA, 1965.

- (f) "contractor", in relation to an establishment, means a person, who-
  - (i) undertakes to produce a given result for the establishment, other than a mere supply of goods or articles of manufacture to such establishment, through contract labour; or
  - (ii) supplies contract labour for any work of the establishment as mere human resource and includes a sub-contractor;
- (g) "contract labour" means a worker who shall be deemed to be employed in or in connection with the work of an establishment when he is hired in or in connection with such work by or through a contractor, with or without the knowledge of the principal employer and includes inter-State migrant worker but does not include a worker (other than part-time employee) who—
  - (i) is regularly employed by the contractor for any activity of his establishment and his employment is governed by mutually accepted standards of the conditions of employment (including engagement on permanent basis), and
  - (ii) gets periodical increment in the pay, social security coverage and other welfare benefits in accordance with the law for the time being in force in such employment;
  - (h) "co-operative society" means a society registered or deemed to be registered under the Co-operative Societies Act, 1912 (2 of 1912), or any other law for the time being in force relating to co-operative societies in any State;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(10) of PBA, 1965.

(i) "corporation" means any body corporate established by or under any Central Act, or State Act, but does not include a company or a cooperative society;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(11) of PBA, 1965.

(i) "direct tax" means—

Corresponding Law: S. 2(12) of PBA, 1965.

- (i) any tax chargeable under the—
  - (A) Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961);
  - (B) Companies (Profits) Surtax Act, 1964 (7 of 1964);
  - (C) Agricultural income tax law; and
- (ii) any other tax which, having regard to its nature or incidence, may be declared by the Central Government, by notification, to be a direct tax for the purposes of this Code;
- (k) "employee" means, any person (other than an apprentice engaged under the Apprentices Act, 1961 (52 of 1961), employed on wages by an establishment to do any skilled, semi-skilled or unskilled, manual, operational, supervisory, managerial, administrative, technical or clerical work for hire or reward, whether the terms of employment be express or implied, and also includes a person declared to be an employee by the appropriate Government, but does not include any member of the Armed Forces of the Union;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(i) of MWA, 1948; S. 2(13) of PBA, 1965.

- (1) "employer" means a person who employs, whether directly or through any person, or on his behalf or on behalf of any person, one or more employees in his establishment and where the establishment is carried on by any department of the Central Government or the State Government, the authority specified, by the head of such department, in this behalf or where no authority, is so specified the head of the department and in relation to an establishment carried on by a local authority, the chief executive of that authority, and includes,—
  - (i) in relation to an establishment which is a factory, the occupier of the factory as defined in clause (n) of Section 2 of the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948) and, where a person has been named as a manager of the factory under clause (f) of sub-section (1) of Section 7 of the said Act, the person so named;
  - (ii) in relation to any other establishment, the person who, or the authority which, has ultimate control over the affairs of the establishment and where the said affairs is entrusted to a manager or managing director, such manager or managing director;
  - (iii) contractor; and
  - (iv) legal representative of a deceased employer;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(i-b) of PWA, 1936; S. 2(e) of MWA, 1948; S. 2(14) of PBA, 1965; S. 2(c) of ERA, 1976.

(m) "establishment" means any place where any industry, trade, business, manufacture or occupation is carried on and includes Government establishment;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(ii) of PWA, 1936; S. 2(15) & (16) of PBA, 1965.

(n) "factory" means a factory as defined in clause (m) of Section 2 of the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948);

Corresponding Law: S. 2(17) of PBA, 1965.

(o) "Government establishment" means any office or department of the Government or a local authority;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(16) of PBA, 1965.

- (p) "Income Tax Act" means the Income Tax Act, 1961 (43 of 1961); Corresponding Law: S. 2(19) of PBA, 1965.
  - (q) "industrial dispute" means,—
    - (i) any dispute or difference between employers and employers, or between employers and workers or between workers and workers which is connected with the employment or non-employment or the terms of employment or with the conditions of labour, of any person; and
    - (ii) any dispute or difference between an individual worker and an employer connected with, or arising out of, discharge, dismissal, retrenchment or termination of such worker;
  - (r) "Inspector-cum-Facilitator" means a person appointed by the appropriate Government under sub-section (1) of Section 51;
  - (s) "minimum wage" means the wage fixed under Section 6;
  - (t) "notification" means a notification published in the Gazette of India or in the Official Gazette of a State, as the case may be, and the expression "notify" with its grammatical variations and cognate expressions shall be construed accordingly;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(e) of ERA, 1976.

(u) "prescribed" means prescribed by rules made by the appropriate Government;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(iv) of PWA, 1936; S. 2(f) of MWA, 1948; S. 2(20) of PBA, 1965; S. 2(f) of ERA, 1976.

(v) "same work or work of a similar nature" means work in respect of which the skill, effort, experience and responsibility required are the same, when performed under similar working conditions by employees and the difference if any, between the skill, effort, experience and responsibility required for employees of any gender, are not of practical importance in relation to the terms and conditions of employment;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(h) of ERA, 1976.

- (w) "State" includes a Union territory;
- (x) "Tribunal" shall have the same meaning as assigned to it in clause (r) of Section 2 of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (14 of 1947);
- (y) "wages" means all remuneration whether by way of salaries, allowances or otherwise, expressed in terms of money or capable of being so expressed which would, if the terms of employment, express or implied, were fulfilled, be payable to a person employed in respect of his employment or of work done in such employment, and includes,—
  - (i) basic pay;
  - (ii) dearness allowance; and

- (iii) retaining allowance, if any, but does not include—
  - (a) any bonus payable under any law for the time being in force, which does not form part of the remuneration payable under the terms of employment;
  - (b) the value of any house-accommodation, or of the supply of light, water, medical attendance or other amenity or of any service excluded from the computation of wages by a general or special order of the appropriate Government;
  - (c) any contribution paid by the employer to any pension or provident fund, and the interest which may have accrued thereon;
  - (d) any conveyance allowance or the value of any travelling concession;
  - (e) any sum paid to the employed person to defray special expenses entailed on him by the nature of his employment;
  - (f) house rent allowance;
  - (g) remuneration payable under any award or settlement between the parties or order of a court or Tribunal;
  - (h) any overtime allowance;
  - (i) any commission payable to the employee;
  - (j) any gratuity payable on the termination of employment;
  - (k) any retrenchment compensation or other retirement benefit payable to the employee or any ex gratia payment made to him on the termination of employment:

Provided that, for calculating the wages under this clause, if payments made by the employer to the employee under clauses (a) to (i) exceeds one-half, or such other per cent as may be notified by the Central Government, of the all remuneration calculated under this clause, the amount which exceeds such one-half, or the per cent so notified, shall be deemed as remuneration and shall be accordingly added in wages under this clause:

Provided further that for the purpose of equal wages to all genders and for the purpose of payment of wages, the emoluments specified in clauses (d), (f), (g) and (h) shall be taken for computation of wage.

Explanation.—Where an employee is given in lieu of the whole or part of the wages payable to him, any remuneration in kind by his employer, the value of such remuneration in kind which does not exceed fifteen per cent of the total wages payable to him, shall be deemed to form part of the wages of such employee;

Corresponding Law: S. 2(vi) of PWA, 1936; S. 2(h) of MWA, 1948; S. 2(21) of PBA, 1965; S. 2(g) of ERA. 1976.

- (z) "worker" means any person (except an apprentice as defined under clause (aa) of Section 2 of the Apprentices Act, 1961 (52 of 1961) employed in any industry to do any manual, unskilled, skilled, technical, operational, clerical or supervisory work for hire or reward, whether the terms of employment be express or implied, and includes—
  - (i) working journalists as defined in clause (f) of Section 2 of the Working Journalists and other Newspaper Employees (Conditions of Service) and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1955 (45 of 1955); and
  - (ii) sales promotion employees as defined in clause (d) of Section 2 of the Sales Promotion Employees (Conditions of Service) Act, 1976 (11 of 1976), and for the purposes of any proceeding under this Code in relation to an industrial dispute, includes any such person who has been dismissed, discharged or retrenched or otherwise terminated in connection with, or as a consequence of, that dispute, or whose dismissal, discharge or retrenchment has led to that dispute,

but does not include any such person—

- (a) who is subject to the Air Force Act, 1950 (45 of 1960), or the Army Act, 1950 (46 of 1950), or the Navy Act, 1957 (62 of 1957); or
- (b) who is employed in the police service or as an officer or other employee of a prison; or
- (c) who is employed mainly in a managerial or administrative capacity; or
- (d) who is employed in a supervisory capacity drawing wage of exceeding fifteen thousand rupees per month or an amount as may be notified by the Central Government from time to time.

Corresponding Law: S. 2(i) of ERA, 1976.

3. Prohibition of discrimination on ground of gender.—(1) There shall be no discrimination in an establishment or any unit thereof among employees on the ground of gender in matters relating to wages by the same employer, in respect of the same work or work of a similar nature done by any employee.

Corresponding Law: S. 4(1) of ERA, 1976.

- (2) No employer shall,—
  - (i) for the purposes of complying with the provisions of sub-section (1), reduce the rate of wages of any employee; and

Corresponding Law: S. 4(2) of ERA, 1976.

(ii) make any discrimination on the ground of sex while recruiting any employee for the same work or work of similar nature and in the conditions of employment, except where the employment of women in

such work is prohibited or restricted by or under any law for the time being in force.

Corresponding Law: S. 5 of ERA, 1976.

4. Decision as to disputes with regard to same or similar nature of work.—Where there is any dispute as to whether a work is of same or similar nature for the purposes of Section 3, the dispute shall be decided by such authority as may be notified by the appropriate Government.

Corresponding Law: S. 7(3) of ERA, 1976.

#### CHAPTER II MINIMUM WAGES

 Payment of minimum rate of wages.—No employer shall pay to any employee wages less than the minimum rate of wages notified by the appropriate Government.

Corresponding Law: S. 12(1) of MWA, 1948.

- **6. Fixation of minimum wages.**—(1) Subject to the provisions of Section 9, the appropriate Government shall fix the minimum rate of wages payable to employees in accordance with the provisions of Section 8.
- (2) For the purposes of sub-section (1), the appropriate Government shall  $f_{IX}$  a minimum rate of wages—
  - (a) for time work; or
  - (b) for piece work.
- (3) Where employees are employed on piece work, for the purpose of sub-section (1), the appropriate Government shall fix a minimum rate of wages for securing such employees a minimum rate of wages on a time work basis.
- (4) The minimum rate of wages on time work basis may be fixed in accordance with any one or more of the following wage periods, namely:—
  - (i) by the hour; or
  - (ii) by the day; or
  - (iii) by the month.
- (5) Where the rates of wages are fixed by the hour or by the day or by the month, the manner of calculating the wages shall be such, as may be prescribed.
- (6) For the purpose of fixation of minimum rate of wages under this section, the appropriate Government,—
  - (a) shall primarily take into account the skill of workers required for working under the categories of unskilled, skilled, semi-skilled and highly-skilled or geographical area or both; and
  - (b) may, in addition to such minimum rate of wages for certain category of workers, take into account their arduousness of work like temperature or humidity normally difficult to bear, hazardous occupations or processes or underground work as may be prescribed by that Government; and
  - (c) the norms of such fixation of minimum rate of wages shall be such as may be prescribed.

(7) The number of minimum rates of wages referred to in sub-section (6) may, as far as possible, be kept at minimum by the appropriate Government.

Corresponding Law: S. 3 of MWA, 1948.

- CASE LAW ► Minimum wage, meaning.—The concept of minimum wages, held, implies wages ensuring not only sustenance of the employee and his family but also preservation of his efficiency as a worker, Airfreight Ltd. v. State of Karnataka, (1999) 6 SCC 567: 1999 SCC (L&S) 1185: (1999) 4 LLN 1.
- 7. Components of minimum wages.—(1) Any minimum rate of wages fixed or revised by the appropriate Government under Section 8 may consist of-
  - (a) a basic rate of wages and an allowance at a rate to be adjusted, at such intervals and in such manner as the appropriate Government may direct, to accord as nearly as practicable with the variation in the cost of living index number applicable to such workers (hereinafter referred to as "cost of living allowance"); or
  - (b) a basic rate of wages with or without the cost of living allowance, and the cash value of the concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rates, where so authorised; or
  - (c) an all-inclusive rate allowing for the basic rate, the cost of living allowance and the cash value of the concessions, if any.
- (2) The cost of living allowance and the cash value of the concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rate shall be computed by such authority, as the appropriate Government may by notification, appoint, at such intervals and in accordance with such directions as may be specified or given by the appropriate Government from time to time.

Corresponding Law: S. 4 of MWA, 1948.

- 8. Procedure for fixing and revising minimum wages.—(1) In fixing minimum rates of wages for the first time or in revising minimum rates of wages under this Code, the appropriate Government shall either—
  - (a) appoint as many committees as it considers necessary to hold enquiries and recommend in respect of such fixation or revision, as the case may
  - (b) by notification publish its proposals for the information of persons likely to be affected thereby and specify a date not less than two months from the date of the notification on which the proposals shall be taken into consideration.

- (2) Every committee appointed by the appropriate Government under clause (a) of sub-section (1) shall consist of persons—

  - (b) representing employees which shall be equal in number of the members
  - (c) independent persons, not exceeding one-third of the total members of the committee.

(3) After considering the recommendation of the committee appointed under clause (a) of sub-section (1) or, as the case may be, all representations received by it before the date specified in the notification under clause (b) of that sub-section, the appropriate Government shall by notification fix, or as the case may be, revise the minimum rates of wages and unless such notification otherwise provides, it shall come into force on the expiry of three months from the date of its issue:

Provided that where the appropriate Government proposes to revise the minimum rates of wages in the manner specified in clause (b) of sub-section (1), it shall also consult concerned Advisory Board constituted under Section 42.

Corresponding Law: S. 5(2) of MWA, 1948.

(4) The appropriate Government shall review or revise minimum rates of wages ordinarily at an interval not exceeding five years.

CASE LAW ➤ Classification/categorization of unskilled employees.—There is no power vested in the Government by Minimum Wages Act, 1948 to make alterations to the terms of a contract. The 1948 Act only confers jurisdiction on Government to fix/revise minimum rate of wages notwithstanding the contract. Categorisation/classification by deeming workers in one category to belong to other category on achieving stipulated years of experience is in direct contravention of contract between employer and employee and beyond jurisdiction of Government, Hindustan Sanitaryware & Industries Ltd. v. State of Haryana, (2019) 15 SCC 774.

► Notification issued by Government revising minimum rates of wages.—Inclusion of security inspector/security officer/supervisor in notification is ultra vires since they are not "employee" in terms of Section 2(i) of Minimum Wages Act, 1948 because they are not engaged in skilled/unskilled/manual or clerical work, Hindustan Sanitaryware & Industries Ltd. v. State of Haryana, (2019) 15 SCC 774.

Trainees who are employed without payment of any reward cannot be covered by notification. Further, period of training to be undergone by trainee would depend on contract of employment and fixing training period for one year is beyond jurisdiction of Government, *Hindustan Sanitaryware & Industries Ltd.* v. State of Haryana, (2019) 15 SCC 774.

There is no distinction between employee employed by principal employer and one employed by contractor and as such employees employed by contractor would also come within purview of the Act, Hindustan Sanitaryware & Industries Ltd. v. State of Haryana, (2019) 15 SCC 774.

Prohibition of segregation of wages into components in form of allowances in notification impermissible, *Hindustan Sanitaryware & Industries Ltd.* v. *State of Haryana*, (2019) 15 SCC 774.

9. Power of Central Government to fix floor wage.—(1) The Central Government shall fix floor wage taking into account minimum living standards of a worker in such manner as may be prescribed:

Provided that different floor wage may be fixed for different geographical areas.

(2) The minimum rates of wages fixed by the appropriate Government under Section 6 shall not be less than the floor wage and if the minimum rates of wages fixed by the appropriate Government earlier is more than the floor wage, then, the

appropriate Government shall not reduce such minimum rates of wages fixed by it earlier.

- (3) The Central Government may, before fixing the floor wage under sub-section (1), obtain the advice of the Central Advisory Board constituted under sub-section (1) of Section 42 and consult State Governments in such manner as may be prescribed.
- 10. Wages of employee who works for less than normal working day.—
  If an employee whose minimum rate of wages has been fixed under this Code by the day works on any day on which he was employed for a period of less than the requisite number of hours constituting a normal working day, he shall, save as otherwise hereinafter provided, be entitled to receive wages in respect of work done on that day, as if he had worked for a full normal working day:

Provided that he shall not be entitled to receive wages for a full normal working day,—

- (i) in any case where his failure to work is caused by his unwillingness to work and not by the omission of the employer to provide him with work; and
- (ii) in such other cases and circumstances, as may be prescribed. Corresponding Law: S. 15 of MWA, 1948.
- 11. Wages for two or more classes of work.—Where an employee does two or more classes of work to each of which a different minimum rate of wages is applicable, the employer shall pay to such employee in respect of the time respectively occupied in each such class of work, wages at not less than the minimum rate in force in respect of each such class.

Corresponding Law: S. 16 of MWA, 1948.

12. Minimum time rate wages for piece work.—Where a person is employed on piece work for which minimum time rate and not a minimum piece rate has been fixed under this Code, the employer shall pay to such person wages at not less than the minimum time rate.

Corresponding Law: S. 17 of MWA, 1948.

- 13. Fixing hours of work for normal working day.—(1) Where the minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Code, the appropriate Government may—
  - (a) fix the number of hours of work which shall constitute a normal working day inclusive of one or more specified intervals;
  - (b) provide for a day of rest in every period of seven days which shall be allowed to all employees or to any specified class of employees and for the payment of remuneration in respect of such days of rest;
  - (c) provide for payment for work on a day of rest at a rate not less than the overtime rate.
- (2) The provisions of sub-section (1) shall, in relation to the following classes of employees apply, only to such extent and subject to such conditions as may be prescribed, namely:—

- (a) employees engaged in any emergency which could not have been foreseen or prevented;
- (b) employees engaged in work of the nature of preparatory or complementary work which must necessarily be carried on outside the limits laid down for the general working in the employment concerned.
- (c) employees whose employment is essentially intermittent;
- (d) employees whose employees employees employees employees are the employees employee completed before the duty is over; and
- (e) employees engaged in a work which could not be carried on except at times dependent on the irregular action of natural forces.
- (3) For the purposes of clause (c) of sub-section (2), employment of an employee is essentially intermittent when it is declared to be so by the appropriate Government on the ground that the daily hours of duty of the employee, or if there be no daily hours of duty as such for the employee, the hours of duty normally include periods of inaction during which the employee may be on duty but is not called upon to display either physical activity or sustained attention.

Corresponding Law: S. 13 of MWA, 1948.

14. Wages for overtime work.—Where an employee whose minimum rate of wages has been fixed under this Code by the hour, by the day or by such a longer wage-period as may be prescribed, works on any day in excess of the number of hours constituting a normal working day, the employer shall pay him for every hour or for part of an hour so worked in excess, at the overtime rate which shall not be less than twice the normal rate of wages.

Corresponding Law: S. 14(1) of MWA, 1948.

### CHAPTER III PAYMENT OF WAGES

15. Mode of payment of wages.—All wages shall be paid in current coin or currency notes or by cheque or by crediting the wages in the bank account of the employee or by the electronic mode:

Provided that the appropriate Government may, by notification, specify the industrial or other establishment, the employer of which shall pay to every person employed in such industrial or other establishment, the wages only by cheque or by crediting the wages in his bank account.

Corresponding Law: S. 6 of PWA, 1936.

16. Fixation of wage period.—The employer shall fix the wage period for employees either as daily or weekly or fortnightly or monthly subject to the condition that no wage period in respect of any employee shall be more than a month:

Provided that different wage periods may be fixed for different establishments. Corresponding Law: S. 4 of PWA, 1936.

- 17. Time limit for payment of wages.—(1) The employer shall pay or cause to be paid wages to the employees, engaged on— (i) daily basis, at the end of the shift:
  - (ii) weekly basis, on the last working day of the week, that is to say, before the weekly holiday:
  - (iii) fortnightly basis, before the end of the second day after the end of the fortnight;
  - (iv) monthly basis, before the expiry of the seventh day of the succeeding month.
  - (2) Where an employee has been—
    - (i) removed or dismissed from service; or
    - (ii) retrenched or has resigned from service, or became unemployed due to closure of the establishment.

the wages payable to him shall be paid within two working days of his removal, dismissal, retrenchment or, as the case may be, his resignation.

- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1) or sub-section (2), the appropriate Government may, provide any other time limit for payment of wages where it considers reasonable having regard to the circumstances under which the wages are to be paid.
- (4) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) shall affect any time limit for payment of wages provided in any other law for the time being in force.

Corresponding Law: S. 5 of PWA, 1936.

18. Deductions which may be made from wages.—(1) Notwithstanding anything contained in any other law for the time being in force, there shall be no deductions from the wages of the employee, except those as are authorised under this Code.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this sub-section,—

- (a) any payment made by an employee to the employer or his agent shall be deemed to be a deduction from his wages;
- (b) any loss of wages to an employee, for a good and sufficient cause, resulting from-
  - (i) the withholding of increment or promotion, including the stoppage of an increment; or
  - (ii) the reduction to a lower post or time-scale; or
  - (iii) the suspension,

shall not be deemed to be a deduction from wages in a case where the provisions made by the employer for such purposes are satisfying the requirements specified in the notification issued by the appropriate Government in this behalf.

- (2) Deductions from the wages of an employee shall be made in accordance with the provisions of this Code, and may be made only for the following purposes, namely:-
  - (a) fines imposed on him;

- (b) deductions for his absence from duty;
- (c) deductions for damage to or loss of goods expressly entrusted to the employee for custody; or for loss of money for which he is required to account, where such damage or loss is directly attributable to his neglect or default;
- (d) deductions for house-accommodation supplied by the employer or by appropriate Government or any housing board set up under any law for the time being in force, whether the Government or such board is the employer or not, or any other authority engaged in the business of subsidising house-accommodation which may be specified in this behalf by the appropriate Government by notification;
- (e) deductions for such amenities and services supplied by the employer as the appropriate Government or any officer specified by it in this behalf may, by general or special order, authorise and such deduction shall not exceed an amount equivalent to the value of such amenities and services.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this clause, the expression "services" does not include the supply of tools and raw materials required for the purposes of employment;

- (f) deductions for recovery of—
  - (i) advances of whatever nature (including advances for travelling allowance or conveyance allowance), and the interest due in respect thereof, or for adjustment of overpayment of wages;
  - (ii) loans made from any fund constituted for the welfare of labour, as may be prescribed by the appropriate Government, and the interest due in respect thereof;
- (g) deductions for recovery of loans granted for house-building or other purposes approved by the appropriate Government and the interest due in respect thereof;
- (h) deductions of income-tax or any other statutory levy levied by the Central Government or State Government and payable by the employee or deductions required to be made by order of a court or other authority competent to make such order;
- (i) deductions for subscription to, and for repayment of advances from any social security fund or scheme constituted by law including provident fund or pension fund or health insurance scheme or fund known by any other name;
- (j) deductions for payment of co-operative society subject to such conditions as the appropriate Government may impose;
- (k) deductions made, with the written authorisation of the employee, for payment of the fees and contribution payable by him for the membership of any Trade Union registered under the Trade Unions Act, 1926 (16 of 1926);

- (1) deductions for recovery of losses sustained by the railway administration on account of acceptance by the employee of counterfeit or base coins or mutilated or forged currency notes;
- (m) deductions for recovery of losses sustained by the railway administration on account of the failure of the employee to invoice, to bill, to collect or to account for the appropriate charges due to the railway administration whether in respect of fares, freight, demurrage, wharfage and cranage or in respect of sale of food in catering establishments or in respect of commodities in grain shops or otherwise;
- (n) deductions for recovery of losses sustained by the railway administration on account of any rebates or refunds incorrectly granted by the employee where such loss is directly attributable to his neglect or default;
- (o) deductions, made with the written authorisation of the employee, for contribution to the Prime Minister's National Relief Fund or to such other fund as the Central Government may, by notification, specify.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Code and subject to the provisions of any other law for the time being in force, the total amount of deductions which may be made under sub-section (2) in any wage period from the wages of an employee shall not exceed fifty per cent of such wages.
- (4) Where the total deductions authorised under sub-section (2) exceed fifty per cent of the wages, the excess may be recovered in such manner, as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 7(1), (2) & (3) of PWA, 1936.

(5) Where any deduction is made by the employer from the wages of an employee under this section but not deposited in the account of the trust or Government fund or any other account, as required under the provisions of the law for the time being in force, such employee shall not be held responsible for such default of the employer.

Corresponding Law: S. 7 of PWA, 1936.

- 19. Fines.—(1) No fine shall be imposed on any employee save in respect of those acts and omissions on his part as the employer, with the previous approval of the appropriate Government or of such authority as may be prescribed, may have specified by notice under sub-section (2).
- (2) A notice specifying such acts and omissions shall be exhibited in such manner as may be prescribed, on the premises in which the employment is carried on.
- (3) No fine shall be imposed on any employee until such employee has been given an opportunity of showing cause against the fine or otherwise than in accordance with such procedure as may be prescribed for the imposition of fines.
- (4) The total amount of fine which may be imposed in any one wage-period on any employee shall not exceed an amount equal to three per cent of the wages payable to him in respect of that wage-period.

- (5) No fine shall be imposed on any employee who is under the age of fifteen years.
- (6) No fine imposed on any employee shall be recovered from him by instalments or after the expiry of ninety days from the day on which it was imposed.
- (7) Every fine shall be deemed to have been imposed on the day of the act or omission in respect of which it was imposed.
- (8) All fines and all realisations thereof shall be recorded in a register to be kept in such manner and form as may be prescribed; and all such realisations shall be applied only to such purposes beneficial to the persons employed in the establishment as are approved by the prescribed authority.

Corresponding Law: S. 8 of PWA, 1936.

- 20. Deductions for absence from duty.—(1) Deductions may be made under clause (b) of sub-section (2) of Section 18 only on account of the absence of an employee from the place or places where by the terms of his employment, he is required to work, such absence being for the whole or any part of the period during which he is so required to work.
- (2) The amount of such deduction shall in no case bear to the wages payable to the employed person in respect of the wage-period for which the deduction is made in a larger proportion than the period for which he was absent bears to the total period within such wage-period during which by the terms of his employment he was required to work:

Provided that, subject to any rules made in this behalf by the appropriate Government, if ten or more employed persons acting in concert absent themselves without due notice (that is to say without giving the notice which is required under the terms of their contracts of employment) and without reasonable cause, such deduction from any such person may include such amount not exceeding his wages for eight days as may by any such terms be due to the employer in lieu of due notice.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section, an employee shall be deemed to be absent from the place where he is required to work if, although present in such place, he refuses, in pursuance of a stay-in strike or for any other cause which is not reasonable in the circumstances, to carry out his work.

Corresponding Law: S. 9 of PWA, 1936.

- 21. Deductions for damage or loss.—(1) A deduction under clause (c) or clause (n) of sub-section (2) of Section 18 for damage or loss shall not exceed the amount of the damage or loss caused to the employer by negligence or default of the employee.
- (2) A deduction shall not be made under sub-section (1) until the employee has been given an opportunity of showing cause against the deduction or otherwise than in accordance with such procedure as may be prescribed for the making of such deductions.
- (3) All such deductions and all realisations thereof shall be recorded in a register to be kept in such form as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 10 of PWA, 1936.

22. Deductions for services rendered.—A deduction under clause (d) or clause (e) of sub-section (2) of Section 18 shall not be made from the wages of an employee, unless the house-accommodation amenity or service has been accepted by him as a term of employment or otherwise and such deduction shall not exceed an amount equivalent to the value of the house-accommodation amenity or service supplied and shall be subject to such conditions as the appropriate Government may impose.

Corresponding Law: S. 11 of PWA, 1936.

- 23. Deductions for recovery of advances.—Deductions under clause (f) of sub-section (2) of Section 18 for recovery of advances given to an employee shall be subject to the following conditions, namely:—
  - (a) recovery of advance of money given to an employee before the employment began shall be made from the first payment of wages to him in respect of a complete wage-period but no recovery shall be made of such advances given for travelling expenses;
  - (b) recovery of advance of money given to an employee after the employment began shall be subject to such conditions as may be prescribed;
- (c) recovery of advances of wages to an employee not already earned shall be subject to such conditions as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 12 of PWA, 1936.

24. Deductions for recovery of loans.—Deductions under clause (g) of sub-section (2) of Section 18 for recovery of loans granted to an employee, regulating the extent to which such loans may be granted and the rate of interest payable thereon, shall be such as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 12-A of PWA, 1936.

25. Chapter not to apply to Government establishments.—The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to the Government establishments unless the appropriate Government, by notification, applies such provisions to the Government establishments specified in the said notification.

Corresponding Law: S. 1(5) of PWA, 1936.

## CHAPTER IV PAYMENT OF BONUS

26. Eligibility for bonus, etc.—(1) There shall be paid to every employee, drawing wages not exceeding such amount per mensem, as determined by notification, by the appropriate Government, by his employer, who has put in at least thirty days work in an accounting year, an annual minimum bonus calculated at the rate of eight and one-third per cent of the wages earned by the employee or one hundred rupees, whichever is higher whether or not the employer has any allocable surplus during the previous accounting year.

Corresponding Law: S. 8 & 10 of PBA, 1965.

(2) For the purpose of calculation of the bonus where the wages of the (2) For the purpose of calculation of the complexe exceeds such amount per mensem, as determined by notification of the bonus payable to such employee by the appropriate Government, the bonus payable to such employee unde by the appropriate Government, the beauty is the wage were such amount sub-sections (1) and (3) shall be calculated as if his wage were such amount sub-sections (1) and (3) shall be calculated as if his wage were such amount of the minimum wage fixed in sub-sections (1) and (3) shall be calculated by the determined by the appropriate Government or the minimum wage fixed by the appropriate Government, whichever is higher.

Corresponding Law: S. 12 of PBA, 1965.

(3) Where in respect of any accounting year referred to in sub-section (1), the (3) Where in respect or any accounting (1), the allocable surplus exceeds the amount of minimum bonus payable to the employee allocable surplus exceeds the amount of minimum bonus, be under that sub-section, the employer shall, in lieu of such minimum bonus, be bound to pay to every employee in respect of that accounting year, bonus which shall be an amount in proportion to the wages earned by the employee during the accounting year, subject to a maximum of twenty per cent of such wages.

Corresponding Law: S. 11 of PBA, 1965.

(4) In computing the allocable surplus under this section, the amount set on or the amount set off under the provisions of Section 36 shall be taken into account in accordance with the provisions of that section.

Corresponding Law: S. 11 of PBA, 1965.

(5) Any demand for bonus in excess of the bonus referred to in sub-section (1), either on the basis of production or productivity in an accounting year for which the bonus is payable shall be determined by an agreement or settlement between the employer and the employees, subject to the condition that the total bonus including the annual minimum bonus referred to in sub-section (1) shall not exceed twenty per cent of the wages earned by the employee in the accounting year.

Corresponding Law: S. 31-A of PBA, 1965.

(6) In the first five accounting years following the accounting year in which the employer sells the goods produced or manufactured by him or renders services, as the case may be, from such establishment, bonus shall be payable only in respect of the accounting year in which the employer derives profit from such establishment and such bonus shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Code in relation to that year, but without applying the provisions of Section 36.

Corresponding Law: S. 16(1-A) of PBA, 1965.

- (7) For the sixth and seventh accounting years following the accounting year in which the employer sells the goods produced or manufactured by him or renders services, as the case may be, from such establishment, the provisions of Section 36 shall apply subject to the following modifications, namely:-
  - (i) for the sixth accounting year set on or set off, as the case may be, shall be made, in the manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government, taking into account the excess or deficiency, if any, as the case may be, of the allocable surplus set on or set off in respect of the fifth and sixth accounting years;
  - (ii) for the seventh accounting year set on or set off, as the case may be, shall be made, in the manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government,

taking into account the excess or deficiency, if any, as the case may be, of the allocable surplus set on or set off in respect of the fifth, sixth and seventh accounting years.

Corresponding Law: S. 16(1-B) of PBA, 1965.

(8) From the eighth accounting year following the accounting year in which the employer sells the goods produced or manufactured by him or renders services, as the case may be, from such establishment, the provisions of Section 36 shall apply in relation to such establishment as they apply in relation to any other establishment.

Explanation 1.—For the purpose of sub-section (6), an employer shall not be deemed to have derived profit in any accounting year, unless-

- (a) he has made provision for depreciation of that year to which he is entitled under the Income Tax Act or, as the case may be, under the agricultural income tax law; and
- (b) the arrears of such depreciation and losses incurred by him in respect of the establishment for the previous accounting years have been fully set off against his profits.

Explanation 2.—For the purposes of sub-sections (6), (7) and (8), sale of the goods produced or manufactured during the course of the trial running of any factory or of the prospecting stage of any mine or an oil-field shall not be taken into consideration and where any question arises with regard to such production or manufacture, the appropriate Government may, after giving the parties a reasonable opportunity of representing the case, decide upon the issue.

Corresponding Law: S. 16(1-C) of PBA, 1965.

- (9) The provisions of sub-sections (6), (7) and (8) shall, so far as may be, apply to new departments or undertakings or branches set up by existing establishments. Corresponding Law: S. 16(2) of PBA, 1965.
- 27. Proportionate reduction in bonus in certain cases.—Where an employee has not worked for all the working days in an accounting year, the minimum bonus under sub-section (1) of Section 26, if such bonus is higher than eight and one third per cent of the salary or wage of the days such employee has worked in that accounting year, shall be proportionately reduced.

Corresponding Law: S. 13 of PBA, 1965.

- 28. Computation of number of working days.—For the purposes of Section 27, an employee shall be deemed to have worked in an establishment in any accounting year also on the days on which,-
  - (a) he has been laid off under an agreement or as permitted by standing orders under the Industrial Employment (Standing Orders) Act, 1946 (20 of 1946), or under the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (14 of 1947), or under any other law applicable to the establishment;
  - (b) he has been on leave with salary or wages;
  - (c) he has been absent due to temporary disablement caused by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment; and

(d) the employee has been on maternity leave with salary or wages, during the accounting year.

Corresponding Law: S. 14 of PBA, 1965.

- 29. Disqualification for bonus.—Notwithstanding anything contained in this Code, an employee shall be disqualified from receiving bonus under this Code, if he is dismissed from service for—

  - (b) riotous or violent behaviour while on the premises of the establishment;
  - (c) theft, misappropriation or sabotage of any property of the establishment;

Corresponding Law: S. 9 of PBA, 1965.

- (d) conviction for sexual harassment.
- Establishments to include departments, undertakings and branches.—Where an establishment consists of different departments of undertakings or has branches, whether situated in the same place or in different places, all such departments or undertakings or branches shall be treated as parts of the same establishment for the purpose of computation of bonus under this Code:

Provided that where for any accounting year a separate balance sheet and profit and loss account are prepared and maintained in respect of any such department or undertaking or branch, then, such department or undertaking or branch shall be treated as a separate establishment for the purpose of co.nputation of bonus, under this Code for that year, unless such department or undertaking or branch was, immediately before the commencement of that accounting year treated as part of the establishment for the purpose of computation of bonus.

Corresponding Law: S. 3 of PBA, 1965.

- 31. Payment of bonus out of allocable surplus.—(1) The bonus shall be paid out of the allocable surplus which shall be an amount equal to sixty per cent in case of a banking company and sixty-seven per cent in case of other establishment, of the available surplus and the available surplus shall be the amount calculated in accordance with Section 33.
  - (2) Audited accounts of companies shall not normally be questioned.
- (3) Where there is any dispute regarding the quantum of bonus, the authority notified by the appropriate Government having jurisdiction may call upon the employer to produce the balance sheet before it, but the authority shall not disclose any information contained in the balance sheet unless agreed to by the employer.

Corresponding Law: S. 24(1) of PBA, 1965.

- 32. Computation of gross profits.—The gross profits derived by an employer from an establishment in respect of the accounting year shall,—
  - (a) in the case of a banking company, be calculated in the manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government;

(b) in any other case, be calculated in the manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government.

Corresponding Law: S. 4 of PBA, 1965.

33. Computation of available surplus.—The available surplus in respect of any accounting year shall be the gross profits for that year after deducting therefrom the sums referred to in Section 34:

Provided that the available surplus in respect of the accounting year commencing on any day in a year after the commencement of this Code and in respect of every subsequent accounting year shall be the aggregate of-

- (a) the gross profits for that accounting year after deducting therefrom the sums referred to in Section 34; and
- (b) an amount equal to the difference between—
  - (i) the direct tax, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Section 35, in respect of an amount equal to the gross profits of the employer for the immediately preceding accounting year; and
  - (ii) the direct tax, calculated in accordance with provisions of Section 35, in respect of an amount equal to the gross profits of the employer for such preceding accounting year after deducting therefrom the amount of bonus which the employer has paid or is liable to pay to his employees in accordance with the provisions of this Code for that year.

Corresponding Law: S. 5 of PBA, 1965.

- 34. Sums deductible from gross profits.—The following sums shall be deducted from the gross profits as prior charges, namely:—
- (a) any amount by way of depreciation admissible in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (1) of Section 32 of the Income Tax Act or in accordance with the provisions of the agricultural income-tax law, for the time being in force, as the case may be;
  - (b) subject to the provisions of Section 35, any direct tax which the employer is liable to pay for the accounting year in respect of his income, profits and gains during that year;
    - (c) such further sums in respect of the employer as may be prescribed by the Central Government.

Corresponding Law: S. 6 of PBA, 1965.

- 35. Calculation of direct tax payable by employer.—For the purposes of this Code, any direct tax payable by the employer for any accounting year shall, subject to the following provisions, be calculated at the rates applicable to the income of the employer for that year, namely:—
  - (a) in calculating such tax no account shall be taken of,—
    - (i) any loss incurred by the employer in respect of any previous accounting year and carried forward under any law for the time being in force relating to direct taxes;

- (ii) any arrears of depreciation which the employer is entitled to add to the amount of the allowance for depreciation for any succeeding accounting year or years under sub-section (2) of Section 32 of the Income Tax Act;
- (b) where the employer is a religious or a charitable institution to which the provisions of Section 41 do not apply and the whole or any part of its income is exempt from the tax under the Income Tax Act, then, with respect to the income so exempted, such institution shall be treated as if it were a company in which the public are substantially interested within the meaning of that Act;

(c) where the employer is an individual or a Hindu Undivided Family, the tax payable by such employer under the Income Tax Act shall be calculated on the basis that the income derived by him from the establishment is his only income;

- (d) where the income of any employer includes any profits and gains derived from the export of any goods or merchandise out of India and any rebate on such income is allowed under any law for the time being in force relating to direct taxes, then, no account shall be taken of such rebate;
- (e) no account shall be taken of any rebate other than development rebate or investment allowance or development allowance or credit or relief or deduction (not hereinbefore mentioned in this section) in the payment of any direct tax allowed under any law for the time being in force relating to direct taxes or under the relevant annual Finance Act, for the development of any industry.

Corresponding Law: S. 7 of PBA, 1965.

- 36. Set on and set off of allocable surplus.—(1) Where for any accounting year, the allocable surplus exceeds the amount of maximum bonus payable to the employees in the establishment under Section 26, then, the excess shall, subject to a limit of twenty per cent of the total salary or wage of the employees employed in the establishment in that accounting year, be carried forward for being set on in the succeeding accounting year and so on up to and inclusive of the fourth accounting year to be utilised for the purpose of payment of bonus in such manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government.
- (2) Where for any accounting year, there is no available surplus or the allocable surplus in respect of that year falls short of the amount of minimum bonus payable to the employees in the establishment under Section 26, and there is no amount or sufficient amount carried forward and set on under sub-section (1) which could be utilised for the purpose of payment of the minimum bonus, then, such minimum amount or the deficiency, as the case may be, shall be carried forward for being set off in the succeeding accounting year and so on up to and inclusive of the fourth accounting year in such manner as may be prescribed by the Central Government.
- (3) The principle of set on and set off as may be provided in rules by the Central Government under this Code shall apply to all other cases not covered by

sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) for the purpose of payment of bonus under this Code.

(4) Where in any accounting year any amount has been carried forward and set on or set off under this section, then, in calculating bonus for the succeeding accounting year, the amount of set on or set off carried forward from the earliest accounting year shall first be taken into account.

Corresponding Law: S. 15 of PBA, 1965.

- 37. Adjustment of customary or interim bonus against bonus payable under this Code.—Where in any accounting year,—
  - (a) an employer has paid any puja bonus or other customary bonus to employee; or
  - (b) an employer has paid a part of the bonus payable under this Code to an employee before the date on which such bonus becomes payable,

then, the employer shall be entitled to deduct the amount of bonus so paid from the amount of bonus payable by him to the employee under this Code in respect of that accounting year and the employee shall be entitled to receive only the balance.

Corresponding Law: S. 17 of PBA, 1965.

38. Deduction of certain amounts from bonus payable.—Where in any accounting year, an employee is found guilty of misconduct causing financial loss to the employer, then, it shall be lawful for the employer to deduct the amount of loss from the amount of bonus payable by him to the employee under this Code in respect of that accounting year only and the employee shall be entitled to receive the balance, if any.

Corresponding Law: S. 18 of PBA, 1965.

39. Time limit for payment of bonus.—(1) All amounts payable to an employee by way of bonus under this Code shall be paid by crediting it in the bank account of the employee by his employer within a period of eight months from the close of the accounting year:

Provided that the appropriate Government or such authority as the appropriate Government may specify in this behalf may, upon an application made to it by the employer and for sufficient reasons, by order, extend the said period of eight months to such further period or periods as it thinks fit; so, however, that the total period so extended shall not in any case exceed two years.

(2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), where there is a dispute regarding payment of bonus pending before any authority, such bonus shall be paid, within a period of one month from the date on which the award becomes enforceable or the settlement comes into operation, in respect of such dispute:

Provided that if, there is a dispute for payment at the higher rate, the employer shall pay eight and one-third per cent of the wages earned by the employee as per the provisions of this Code within a period of eight months from the close of the accounting year.

Corresponding Law: S. 19 of PBA, 1965.

- 40. Application of this Chapter to establishments in public sector in certain cases.—(1) If in any accounting year an establishment in public sector sells any goods produced or manufactured by it or renders any services, in competition with an establishment in private sector, and the income from such sale or services or both, is not less than twenty per cent of the gross income of the establishment in public sector for that year, then, the provisions of this Chapter shall apply in relation to such establishment in public sector as they apply in relation to a like establishment in private sector.
- (2) Save as otherwise provided in sub-section (1), nothing in this Chapter shall apply to the employees employed by any establishment in public sector.

Corresponding Law: S. 20 of PBA, 1965.

- 41. Non-applicability of this Chapter.—(1) Nothing in this Chapter shall apply to—
  - (a) employees employed by the Life Insurance Corporation of India;
  - (b) seamen as defined in clause (42) of Section 3 of the Merchant Shipping Act, 1958 (44 of 1958);
  - (c) employees registered or listed under any scheme made under the Dock Workers (Regulation of Employment) Act, 1948 (9 of 1948), and employed by registered or listed employers;
  - (d) employees employed by an establishment under the authority of any department of the Central Government or a State Government or a local authority;
  - (e) employees employed by—
    - (i) the Indian Red Cross Society or any other institution of a like nature including its branches;
    - (ii) universities and other educational institutions;
    - (iii) institutions including hospitals, chamber of commerce and social welfare institutions established not for purposes of profit;
  - (f) employees employed by the Reserve Bank of India;
  - (g) employees employed by public sector financial institution other than a banking company, which the Central Government may, by notification, specify, having regard to—
    - (i) its capital structure;
    - (ii) its objectives and the nature of its activities;
    - (iii) the nature and extent of financial assistance or any concession given to it by the Government; and
    - (iv) any other relevant factor;
  - (h) employees employed by inland water transport establishments operating on routes passing through any other country; and

Corresponding Law: S. 32 of PBA, 1965.

(i) employees of any other establishment which the appropriate Government may, by notification, exempt having regard to the overall

benefits under any other scheme of profit sharing available in such establishments to the employees.

(2) Subject to the provisions of sub-section (1) and notwithstanding anything contained in any other provisions of this Chapter, the provisions of this Chapter shall apply to such establishment in which twenty or more persons are employed or were employed on any day during an accounting year.

Corresponding Law: S. 1(3) of PBA, 1965.

#### CHAPTER V

#### **ADVISORY BOARD**

- 42. Central Advisory Board and State Advisory Boards.—(1) The Central Government shall constitute the Central Advisory Board which shall consist of persons to be nominated by the Central Government—
  - (a) representing employers;
  - (b) representing employees which shall be equal in number of the members specified in clause (a);
  - (c) independent persons, not exceeding one-third of the total members of the Board; and
  - (d) five representatives of such State Governments as may be nominated by the Central Government.

Corresponding Law: Ss. 7, 8 & 9 of MWA, 1948.

- (2) One-third of the members referred to in sub-section (1) shall be women and a member specified in clause (c) of the said sub-section shall be appointed by the Central Government as the Chairperson of the Board.
- (3) The Central Advisory Board constituted under sub-section (1) shall from time to time advise the Central Government on reference of issues relating to—
  - (a) fixation or revision of minimum wages and other connected matters;
  - (b) providing increasing employment opportunities for women;
  - (c) the extent to which women may be employed in such establishments or employments as the Central Government may, by notification, specify in this behalf; and
  - (d) any other matter relating to this Code,

and on such advice, the Central Government may issue directions to the State Government as it deems fit in respect of matters relating to issues referred to the Board.

- (4) Every State Government shall constitute a State Advisory Board for advising the State Government—
  - (a) in fixation or revision of minimum wages and other connected matters;
  - (b) for the purpose of providing increasing employment opportunities for women;
  - (c) with regard to the extent to which women may be employed in such establishments or employments as the State Government may, by notification, specify in this behalf; and

- (d) in any other matter relating to this Code, which the State Government may refer from time to time to the Board.
- (5) The State Advisory Board may constitute one or more committees or sub committees to look into issues pertaining to matters specified in clauses (a) to  $(d_j)$  of sub-section (4).

Corresponding Law: S. 9 of MWA, 1948; S. 6(1) of ERA, 1976.

- (6) The State Advisory Board and each of the committees and sub-committees thereof shall consist of persons—
  - (a) representing employers;
  - (b) representing employees which shall be equal in number of the members specified in clause (a); and
  - (c) independent persons, not exceeding one-third of the total members of the Board or committee or sub-committee, as the case may be.
- (7) One-third of the members referred to in sub-section (6) shall be women and one among the members specified in clause (c) of the said sub-section shall be—
  - (a) appointed by the State Government as the Chairperson of the Board;
  - (b) appointed by the State Advisory Board as the Chairperson of the committee or sub-committee, as the case may be.

Corresponding Law: S. 6(2) of ERA, 1976.

(8) In tendering its advice in the matters specified in clause (b) or clause (c) of sub-section (4), the State Advisory Board shall have regard to the number of women employed in the concerned establishment, or employment, the nature of work, hours of work, suitability of women for employment, as the case may be, the need for providing increasing employment opportunities for women, including part time employment, and such other relevant factors as the Board may think fit.

**Corresponding Law:** S. 6(3) & (4) of ERA, 1976.

- (9) The State Government may, after considering the advice tendered to it by the State Advisory Board and after inviting and considering the representations from establishment or employees or any other person which that Government thinks fit, issue such direction as may be deemed necessary.
- (10) The Central Advisory Board referred to in sub-section (1) and the State Advisory Board referred to in sub-section (4) shall respectively regulate their own procedure including that of the committees and sub-committees constituted by the State Advisory Board, in such manner as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 6(4) of ERA, 1976.

(11) The terms of office of the Central Advisory Board referred to in sub-section (1) and the State Advisory Board referred to in sub-section (4) including that of the committees and sub-committees constituted by the State Advisory Board, shall be such as may be prescribed.

Section 42(1), (2), (3), (10) and (11) (to the extent they relate to the Central Advisory Board) enforced w.e.f. 18-12-2020

CASE LAW ► Constitution of Committee for revision of minimum wages.—Representation by way of nomination is a well-accepted phenomenon. Thus, person nominated to represent interest of his employer need not necessarily be employer himself but can be employee who is well-versed with working of the organisation and subject, and is competent to represent interest of his employer which is in accordance with Section 9of the Mimimum Wages Act, 1948. Such nominee would defend his employer's interests and not individual interest i.e. he does not participate in his individual capacity but as representative of his employer Kerala Private Hospital Assn. v. State of Kerala, (2018) 1 SCC 98.

#### CHAPTER VI

### PAYMENT OF DUES, CLAIMS AND AUDIT

43. Responsibility for payment of various dues.—Every employer shall pay all amounts required to be paid under this Code to every employee employed by him:

Provided that where such employer fails to make such payment in accordance with this Code, then, the company or firm or association or any other person who is the proprietor of the establishment, in which the employee is employed, shall be responsible for such payment.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section the expression "firm" shall have the same meaning as assigned to it in the Partnership Act, 1932 (9 of 1932).

Corresponding Law: S. 3 of PWA, 1936.

- 44. Payment of various undisbursed dues in case of death of employee.— (1) Subject to the other provisions of this Code, all amounts payable to an employee under this Code shall, if such amounts could not or cannot be paid on account of his death before payment or on account of his whereabouts not being known,—
  - (a) be paid to the person nominated by him in this behalf in accordance with the rules made under this Code; or
  - (b) where no such nomination has been made or where for any reasons such amounts cannot be paid to the person so nominated, be deposited with the such authority, as may be prescribed, who shall deal with the amounts so deposited in the manner as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 22-D of MWA, 1948.

- (2) Where in accordance with the provisions of sub-section (1), all amounts payable to an employee under this Code—
  - (a) are paid by the employer to the person nominated by the employee; or
  - (b) are deposited by the employer with the authority referred to in clause (b)of sub-section (1),

then, the employer shall be discharged of his liability to pay those amounts.

Corresponding Law: S. 25-A of PWA, 1936.

45. Claims under Code and procedure thereof.—(1) The appropriate Government may, by notification, appoint one or more authorities, not below the rank of a Gazetted Officer, to hear and determine the claims which arises under the provisions of this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 15(1) of PWA, 1936; S. 20(1) of MWA, 1948.

(2) The authority appointed under sub-section (1), while deciding the claim under that sub-section, may order, having regard to the circumstances under which the claim arises, the payment of compensation in addition to the claim determined, which may extend to ten times of the claim determined and endeavour shall be made by the authority to decide the claim within a period of three months.

Corresponding Law: S. 15(3) of PWA, 1936; S. 20(3) of MWA, 1948.

(3) If an employer fails to pay the claim determined and compensation ordered to be paid under sub-section (2), the authority shall issue a certificate of recovery to the Collector or District Magistrate of the district where the establishment is located who shall recover the same as arrears of land revenue and remit the same to the authority for payment to the concerned employee.

Corresponding Law: S. 21 of PBA, 1965.

- (4) Any application before the authority for claim referred to in sub-section (1) may be filed by,—
  - (a) the employee concerned; or
  - (b) any Trade Union registered under the Trade Unions Act, 1926 (16 of 1926) of which the employee is a member; or
  - (c) the Inspector-cum-Facilitator.

Corresponding Law: S. 15(2) of PWA, 1936; S. 20(2) of MWA, 1948.

(5) Subject to such rules as may be made, a single application may be filed under this section on behalf or in respect of any number of employees employed in an establishment.

Corresponding Law: S. 16(1) & (2) of PWA, 1936; S. 21 of MWA, 1948.

(6) The application under sub-section (4) may be filed within a period of three years from the date on which claims referred to in sub-section (1) arises:

Provided that the authority referred to in sub-section (1) may, entertain the application after three years on sufficient cause being shown by the applicant for such delay.

Corresponding Law: S. 15(2) of PWA, 1936.

(7) The authority appointed under sub-section (1) and the appellate authority appointed under sub-section (1) of Section 49, shall have all the powers of a civil court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (5 of 1908), for the purpose of taking evidence and of enforcing the attendance of witnesses and compelling the production of documents, and every such authority or appellate authority shall be deemed to be a civil court for all the purposes of Section 195 and Chapter XXVI of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974).

Corresponding Law: S. 18 of PWA, 1936; S. 20(7) of MWA, 1948.

CASE LAW ➤ Scope for enquiry.—The Minimum Wages Act, 1948 is a social welfare legislation to ensure and secure adequate living wage in public interest. There is no scope for enquiry under Section 20(1) of the Minimum Wages Act, 1948, to examine principles of equal pay for equal work, which dispute is to be determined by adjudicatory mechanism provided under the law, SAIL v. Jaggu, (2019) 7 SCC 658.

- ▶ Jurisdiction of prescribed authority. Prescribed authority under Payment of Wages Act, 1936 is not appellate authority in disciplinary proceedings and hence, has no right to sit in appeal and to set aside order passed in disciplinary proceedings, *State of Punjab* v. *Jaswinder Singh*, (2017) 8 SCC 621.
- 46. Reference of disputes under this Code.—Notwithstanding anything contained in this Code, where any dispute arises between an employer and his employees with respect to—
  - (a) fixation of bonus or eligibility for payment of bonus under the provisions of this Code; or
  - (b) the application of this Code, in respect of bonus, to an establishment in public sector,

then, such dispute shall be deemed to be an industrial dispute within the meaning of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (14 of 1947).

Corresponding Law: S. 22 of PBA, 1965.

- 47. Presumption about accuracy of balance sheet and profit and loss account of corporations and companies.—(1) Where, during the course of proceedings before—
  - (a) the authority under Section 45; or
  - (b) the appellate authority under Section 49; or
  - (c) a Tribunal; or
  - (d) an arbitrator referred to in clause (aa) of Section 2 of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (14 of 1947),

in respect of any dispute of the nature specified in Sections 45 and 46 or in respect of an appeal under Section 49, the balance sheet and the profit and loss account of an employer, being a corporation or a company (other than a banking company), duly audited by the Comptroller and Auditor-General of India or by auditors duly qualified to act as auditors of companies under Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013 (18 of 2013), are produced before it, then, the said authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, as the case may be, may presume the statements and particulars contained in such balance sheet and profit and loss account to be accurate and it shall not be necessary for the corporation or the company to prove the accuracy of such statements and particulars by the filing of an affidavit or by any other mode:

Provided that where the said authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, as the case may be, is satisfied that the statements and particulars contained in the balance sheet or the profit and loss account of the corporation or the company are not accurate, it may take such steps as it thinks necessary to find out the accuracy of such statements and particulars.

(2) When an application is made to the authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, as the case may be, referred to in sub-section (1), by any Trade Union being a party to the dispute or as the case may be, an appeal, and where there is no Trade Union, by the employees being a party to the dispute, or as the case may be, an appeal, requiring any clarification relating to any item in the balance sheet or the profit and loss account, then such authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or

arbitrator, may, after satisfying itself that such clarification is necessary, by order direct the corporation or, as the case may be, the company, to furnish to the Trade Union or the employees such clarification within such time as may be specified in the direction and the corporation or, as the case may be, the company, shall comply with such direction.

Corresponding Law: S. 23 of PBA, 1965.

- 48. Audit of account of employers not being corporations or companies
- -(1) Where any claim, dispute or appeal with respect to bonus payable under this Code between an employer, not being a corporation or a company, and his employees is pending before any authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, as the case may be, as referred to in sub-section (1) of Section 47 and the accounts of such employer audited by any auditor duly qualified to act as auditor of companies under the provisions of Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013 (18 of 2013), are produced before such authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, then the provisions of Section 47 shall, so far as may be, apply to the accounts so audited.
- (2) When the authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, referred  $t_0$ in sub-section (1), as the case may be, finds that the accounts of such employer have not been audited by any such auditor and it is of opinion that an audit of the accounts of such employer is necessary for deciding the question referred to it, then, such authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, may, by order, direct the employer to get his accounts audited within such time as may be specified in the direction or within such further time as it may allow by such auditor or auditors as it thinks fit and thereupon the employer shall comply with such direction.
- (3) Where an employer fails to get the accounts audited under sub-section (2), the authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, referred to in sub-section (1), as the case may be, may, without prejudice to the provisions of Section 54, get the accounts audited by such auditor or auditors as it thinks fit.
- (4) When the accounts are audited under sub-section (2) or sub-section (3), the provisions of Section 47 shall, so far as may be, apply to the accounts so audited.
- (5) The expenses of, and incidental to, any audit under sub-section (3) including the remuneration of the auditor or auditors shall be determined by the authority, appellate authority, Tribunal or arbitrator, referred to in sub-section (1), as the case may be, and paid by the employer and in default of such payment shall be recoverable by the authority referred to in sub-section (3) of Section 45 from the employer in the manner provided in that sub-section.

Corresponding Law: S. 25 of PBA, 1965.

49. Appeal.—(1) Any person aggrieved by an order passed by the authority under sub-section (2) of Section 45 may prefer an appeal, to the appellate authority having jurisdiction appointed by the appropriate Government, by notification, for such purpose, within ninety days from the date of such order, in such form and manner as may be prescribed:

Provided that the appellate authority may entertain the appeal after ninety days if it satisfied that the delay in filing the appeal has occurred due to sufficient cause.

Corresponding Law: S. 17(1) of PWA, 1936.

- (2) The appellate authority shall be appointed from the officers of the appropriate Government holding the post at least one rank higher than the authority referred under sub-section (1) of Section 45.
- (3) The appellate authority shall, after hearing the parties in the appeal, dispose of the appeal and endeavour shall be made to dispose of the appeal within a period of three months.
- (4) The outstanding dues under the orders of the appellate authority shall be recovered by the authority referred to in Section 45, by issuing the certificate of recovery in the manner specified in sub-section (3) of that section.
- **50.** Records, returns and notices.—(1) Every employer of an establishment to which this Code applies shall maintain a register containing the details with regard to persons employed, muster roll, wages and such other details in such manner as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 13-A of PWA, 1936; S. 26 of PBA, 1965; S. 8 of ERA, 1976.

- (2) Every employer shall display a notice on the notice board at a prominent place of the establishment containing the abstract of this Code, category-wise wage rates of employees, wage period, day or date and time of payment of wages, and the name and address of the Inspector-cum-Facilitator having jurisdiction.
- (3) Every employer shall issue wage slips to the employees in such form and manner as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 18 of MWA, 1948.

(4) The provisions of sub-sections (1) to (3) shall not apply in respect of the employer to the extent he employs not more than five persons for agriculture or domestic purpose:

Provided that such employer, when demanded, shall produce before the Inspector-cum-Facilitator, the reasonable proof of the payment of wages to the persons so employed.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this sub-section, the expression "domestic purpose" means the purpose exclusively relating to the home or family affairs of the employer and does not include any affair relating to any establishment, industry, trade, business, manufacture or occupation.

#### CHAPTER VII

## INSPECTOR-CUM-FACILITATOR

51. Appointment of Inspector-cum-Facilitators and their powers.—
(1) The appropriate Government may, by notification, appoint Inspector-cum-Facilitators for the purposes of this Code who shall exercise the powers conferred on them under sub-section (4) throughout the State or such geographical limits assigned in relation to one or more establishments situated in such State or

geographical limits or in one or more establishments, irrespective of geographical limits, assigned to him by the appropriate Government, as the case may be.

Corresponding Law: S. 14(1), (2) & (3) of PWA, 1936; S. 19(1) of MWA, 1948; S. 27(1) of PBA, 1965; S. 9(1) of ERA, 1976.

- (2) The appropriate Government may, by notification, lay down an inspection scheme which may also provide for generation of a web-based inspection and calling of information relating to the inspection under this Code electronically.
- (3) Without prejudice to the provisions of sub-section (2), the appropriate Government may, by notification, confer such jurisdiction of randomised selection of inspection for the purposes of this Code to the Inspector-cum-Facilitator as may be specified in such notification.
- (4) Every Inspector-cum-Facilitator appointed under sub-section (1) shall be deemed to be public servant within the meaning of Section 21 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860).

Corresponding Law: S. 14(5) of PWA, 1936; S. 19(3) of MWA, 1948; S. 27(3) of PBA, 1965; S. 9(2) of ERA, 1976.

- (5) The Inspector-cum-Facilitator may—
  - (a) advice to employers and workers relating to compliance with the provisions of this Code;
  - (b) inspect the establishments as assigned to him by the appropriate Government,

subject to the instructions or guidelines issued by the appropriate Government from time to time.

- (6) Subject to the provisions of sub-section (4), the Inspector-cum-Facilitator may,—
  - (a) examine any person who is found in any premises of the establishment, whom the Inspector-cum-Facilitator has reasonable cause to believe, is a worker of the establishment;
  - (b) require any person to give any information, which is in his power to give with respect to the names and addresses of the persons;
  - (c) search, seize or take copies of such register, record of wages or notices or portions thereof as the Inspector-cum-Facilitator may consider relevant in respect of an offence under this Code and which the Inspector-cum-Facilitator has reason to believe has been committed by the employer;
  - (d) bring to the notice of the appropriate Government defects or abuses not covered by any law for the time being in force; and (e) exercise such other powers as may be prescribed.

Corresponding Law: S. 14(4) of PWA, 1936; S. 19(2) of MWA, 1948; S. 27(2) of PBA, 1965; S. 9(3) of ERA, 1976.

(7) Any person required to produce any document or to give any information required by a Inspector-cum-Facilitator under sub-section (5) shall be deemed to be legally bound to do so within the meaning of Section 175 and Section 176 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860).

Corresponding Law: S. 19(4) of MWA, 1948; S. 27(3) of PBA, 1965; S. 9(4) of ERA, 1976.

(8) The provisions of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974) shall, so far as may be, apply to the search or seizure under sub-section (5) as they apply to the search or seizure made under the authority of a warrant issued under Section 94 of the said Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 14(4-A) of PWA, 1936.

## CHAPTER VIII OFFENCES AND PENALTIES

**52.** Cognizance of offences.—(1) No court shall take cognizance of any offence punishable under this Code, save on a complaint made by or under the authority of the appropriate Government or an officer authorised in this behalf, or by an employee or a registered Trade Union registered under the Trade Unions Act, 1926 (16 of 1926) or an Inspector-cum-Facilitator.

Corresponding Law: S. 21(1), (3) & (3-A) of PWA, 1936; S. 22-B of MWA, 1948; S. 12(2) of ERA, 1976.

(2) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974), no court inferior to that of a Metropolitan Magistrate or Judicial Magistrate of the first class shall try the offences under this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 30 of PBA, 1965; S. 12(1) of ERA, 1976.

- 53. Power of officers of appropriate Government to impose penalty in certain cases.—(1) Notwithstanding anything contained in Section 52, for the purpose of imposing penalty under clauses (a) and (c) of sub-section (1) and sub-section (2) of Section 54 and sub-section (7) of Section 56, the appropriate Government may appoint any officer not below the rank of under Secretary to the Government of India or an officer of equivalent rank in the State Government, as the case may be, for holding enquiry in such manner, as may be prescribed by the Central Government.
- (2) While holding the enquiry, the officer referred to in sub-section (1) shall have the power to summon and enforce attendance of any person acquainted with the facts and circumstances of the case to give evidence or to produce any document, which in the opinion of such officer, may be useful for or relevant to the subject matter of the enquiry and if, on such enquiry, he is satisfied that the person has committed any offence under the provisions referred to in sub-section (1), he may impose such penalty as he thinks fit in accordance with such provisions.

Corresponding Law: S. 15 of PWA, 1936.

# 54. Penalties for offences.—(1) Any employer who—

- (a) pays to any employee less than the amount due to such employee under the provisions of this Code shall be punishable with fine which may
- (b) having been convicted of an offence under clause (a) is again found guilty of similar offence under this clause, within five years from the date of the commission of the first or subsequent offence, he shall, on the second and the subsequent commission of the offence, be punishable

with imprisonment for a term which may extend to three months or with fine which may extend to one lakh rupees, or with both;

(c) contravenes any other provision of this Code or any rule made or order made or issued thereunder shall be punishable with fine which may

extend to twenty thousand rupees;

(d) having been convicted of an offence under clause (c) is again found guilty of similar offence under this clause, within five years from the date of the commission of the first or subsequent offence, he shall, on the second and the subsequent commission of the offence under this clause, be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to one month or with fine which may extend to forty thousand rupees, or with both

Corresponding Law: S. 20(1), (2), (2-A), (4) & (6) of PWA, 1936; S. 22 of MWA, 1948; S. 28 of PBA, 1965; S. 10(2) & (3) of ERA, 1976.

(2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), for the offences of non-maintenance or improper maintenance of records in the establishment, the employer shall be punishable with fine which may extend to ten thousand rupees.

Corresponding Law: S. 20(3) of PWA, 1936; S. 10(1) of ERA, 1976.

(3) Notwithstanding anything contained in clause (c) of sub-section (1) or sub-section (2), the Inspector-cum-Facilitator shall, before initiation of prosecution proceeding for the offences under the said clause or sub-section, give an opportunity to the employer to comply with the provisions of this Code by way of a written direction, which shall lay down a time period for such compliance, and, if the employer complies with the direction within such period, the Inspector-cum-Facilitator shall not initiate such prosecution proceeding and, no such opportunity shall be accorded to an employer, if the violation of the same nature of the provisions under this Code is repeated within a period of five years from the date on which such first violation was committed and in such case the prosecution shall be initiated in accordance with the provisions of this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 20(5) of PWA, 1936.

55. Offences by companies.—(1) If the person committing an offence under this Code is a company, every person who, at the time the offence was committed was in charge of, and was responsible to the company for the conduct of business of the company, as well as the company, shall be deemed to be guilty of the offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly:

Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall render any such person liable to any punishment if he proves that the offence was committed without his knowledge or that he exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of such offence.

(2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), where an offence under this Code has been committed by a company and it is proved that the offence has been committed with the consent or connivance of, or is attributable to any neglect on the part of, any director, manager, secretary or other officer of the company, such director, manager, secretary or other officer shall also be deemed to

be guilty of that offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section,—

- (a) "company" means anybody corporate and includes—
  - (i) a firm; or
  - (ii) a limited liability partnership registered under the Limited Liability Partnership Act, 2008 (6 of 2009); or
  - (iii) other association of individuals; and
- (b) "director" in relation to a firm means a partner in the firm.

Corresponding Law: S. 22-C of MWA, 1948; S. 29 of PBA, 1965; S. 11 of ERA, 1976.

- 56. Composition of offences.—(1) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (2 of 1974), any offence punishable under this Code, not being an offence punishable with imprisonment only, or with imprisonment and also with fine, may, on an application of the accused person, either before or after the institution of any prosecution, be compounded by a Gazetted Officer, as the appropriate Government may, by notification, specify, for a sum of fifty per cent of the maximum fine provided for such offence, in the manner as may be prescribed.
- (2) Nothing contained in sub-section (1) shall apply to an offence committed by a person for the second time or thereafter within a period of five years from the date—(i) of commission of a similar offence which was earlier compounded; (ii) of commission of similar offence for which such person was earlier convicted.
- (3) Every officer referred to in sub-section (1) shall exercise the powers to compound an offence, subject to the direction, control and supervision of the appropriate Government.
- (4) Every application for the compounding of an offence shall be made in such manner as may be prescribed.
- (5) Where any offence is compounded before the institution of any prosecution, no prosecution shall be instituted in relation to such offence, against the offender in relation to whom the offence is so compounded.
- (6) Where the composition of any offence is made after the institution of any prosecution, such composition shall be brought by the officer referred to in sub-section (1) in writing, to the notice of the court in which the prosecution is pending and on such notice of the composition of the offence being given, the person against whom the offence is so compounded shall be discharged.
- (7) Any person who fails to comply with an order made by the officer referred to in sub-section (1), shall be punishable with a sum equivalent to twenty per cent of the maximum fine provided for the offence, in addition to such fine.
- (8) No offence punishable under the provisions of this Code shall be compounded except under and in accordance with the provisions of this section.

## CHAPTER IX MISCELLANEOUS

- 57. Bar of suits.—No court shall entertain any suit for the recovery of minimum wages, any deduction from wages, discrimination in wages and payment of bonus, in so far as the sum so claimed—
  - (a) forms the subject of claims under Section 45;
  - (b) has formed the subject of a direction under this Code;
  - (c) has been adjudged in any proceeding under this Code;
  - (d) could have been recovered under this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 22 of PWA, 1936; S. 24 of MWA, 1948.

58. Protection of action taken in good faith.—No suit, prosecution or any other legal proceeding shall lie against the appropriate Government or any officer of that Government for anything which is in good faith done or intended to be done under this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 22-A of PWA, 1936; S. 31 of PBA, 1965.

- 59. Burden of proof.—Where a claim has been filed on account of non-payment of remuneration or bonus or less payment of wages or bonus or on account of making deductions not authorised by this Code from the wages of an employee, the burden to prove that the said dues have been paid shall be on the employer.
- 60. Contracting out.—Any contract or agreement whereby an employee relinquishes the right to any amount or the right to bonus due to him under this Code shall be null and void in so far as it purports to remove or reduce the liability of any person to pay such amount under this Code.

Corresponding Law: S. 23 of PWA, 1936; S. 25 of MWA, 1948.

61. Effect of laws agreements, etc. Inconsistent with this Code.—The provisions of this Code shall have effect notwithstanding anything inconsistent therewith contained in any other law for the time being in force or in the terms of any award, agreement, settlement or contract of service.

Corresponding Law: S. 34 of PBA, 1965; S. 3 of ERA, 1976.

- 62. Delegation of powers.—The appropriate Government may, by notification, direct that any power exercisable by it under this Code shall, in relation to such matters and subject to such conditions, if any, as may be specified in the notification, be also exercisable—
  - (a) where the appropriate Government is the Central Government, by such officer or authority subordinate to the Central Government or by the State Government or by such officer or authority subordinate to the State Government, as may be specified in the notification;
  - (b) where the appropriate Government is a State Government, by such officer or authority subordinate to the State Government as may be specified in the notification.

Corresponding Law: S. 24 of PWA, 1936.

- 63. Exemption of employer from liability in certain cases.—Where an employer is charged with an offence under this Code, he shall be entitled upon complaint duly made by him, to have any other person whom he charges as the actual offender, brought before the court at the time appointed for hearing the charge; and if, after the commission of the offence has been proved, the employer proves to the satisfaction of the court—
  - (a) that he has used due diligence to enforce the execution of this Code; and
  - (b) that the said other person committed the offence in question without his knowledge, consent or connivance,

that other person shall be convicted of the offence and shall be liable to the like punishment as if he were the employer and the employer shall be discharged from any liability under this Code in respect of such offence:

Provided that in seeking to prove, as aforesaid, the employer may be examined on oath, and the evidence of the employer or his witness, if any, shall be subject to cross-examination by or on behalf of the person whom the employer charges as the actual offender and by the prosecution.

Corresponding Law: S. 23 of MWA, 1948.

64. Protection against attachments of assets of employer with Government.—Any amount deposited with the appropriate Government by an employer to secure the due performance of a contract with that Government and any other amount due to such employer from that Government in respect of such contract shall not be liable to attachment under any decree or order of any court in respect of any debt or liability incurred by the employer other than any debt or liability incurred by the employer towards any employee employed in connection with the contract aforesaid.

Corresponding Law: S. 22-E of MWA, 1948.

65. Power of Central Government to give directions.—The Central Government may, for carrying into execution of the provisions of this Code in the State give directions to the State Government, and the State Government shall abide by such directions.

Corresponding Law: S. 28 of MWA, 1948; S. 14 of ERA, 1976.

66. Saving.—Nothing contained in this Code shall be deemed to affect the provisions of the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act, 2005 (42 of 2005) and the Coal Mines Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1948 (46 of 1948), or of any scheme made thereunder.

Corresponding Law: S. 35 of PBA, 1965.

- 67. Power of appropriate Government to make rules.—(1) The appropriate Government may, subject to the condition of previous publication, make rules for carrying out the provisions of this Code.
- (2) In particular and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing power, such rules may provide for all or any of the following matters, namely:—
  - (a) the manner of calculating the wages under sub-section (4) of Section 6;

- (b) the arduousness of work to be taken into account in addition to minimum rate of wages for certain category of workers under clause (b) of sub-section (6) of Section 6;
- (c) the norms under clause (c) of sub-section (6) of Section 6;
- (d) the cases and circumstances in which an employee employed for a period of less than the requisite number of hours shall not be entitled to receive wages for a full normal working day, under Section 10;
- (e) the extent and conditions, which shall apply in relation to certain classes of employees under sub-section (2) of Section 13;
- (f) the longer wage period for fixation of minimum rate of wages as referred to in Section 14;
- (g) the manner of deducting loans made from any fund constituted for the welfare of labour under sub-clause (ii) of clause (f) of sub-section (2) of Section 18;
- (h) the manner of recovery of excess of amount under sub-section (4) of Section 18;
- (i) the authority to provide approval for imposition of fine under sub-section (1) of Section 19;
- (j) the manner of exhibition of the acts and omissions to be specified in the notice under sub-section (2) of Section 19;
- (k) the procedure for the imposition of fines under sub-section (3) of Section 19;
- (1) the form of the register to record all fines and all realisations thereof under sub-section (8) of Section 19;
- (m) the procedure for making deductions for absence from duty under sub-section (2) of Section 20;
- (n) the procedure for making deductions for damage or loss under sub-section (2) of Section 21;
- (o) the form of the register to record all deductions and all realisations thereof under sub-section (3) of Section 21;
- (p) conditions for recovery of advance of money given to an employee after the employment began under clause (b) of Section 23;
- (q) conditions for recovery of advances of wages to an employee not already earned under clause (c) of Section 23;
- (r) deductions for recovery of loans and the rate of interest payable thereon under Section 24;
- (s) the manner of regulating the procedure by the Central Advisory Board and the State Advisory Board, including that of the committees and sub-committees constituted by the State Advisory Board, under sub-section (10) of Section 42;
- (t) the terms of office of members of the Central Advisory Board, the State Advisory Board, including that of the committees and sub-committees constituted by the State Advisory Board, under sub-section (11) of Section 42;

- (u) the authority and manner of depositing with such authority, various undisbursed dues under clause (b) of sub-section (1) of Section 44;
- (v) the form of single application in respect of a number of employees under sub-section (5) of Section 45;
- (w) the form for making an appeal to the appellate authority under sub-section (1) of Section 49;
- (x) the manner of maintenance of a register by the employer under sub-section (1) of Section 50;
- (y) the form and manner of issuing wage slips under sub-section (3) of Section 50;
- (z) the other powers to be exercised by the Inspector-cum-Facilitator under sub-section (5) of Section 51;
- (za) the manner of imposing fine under sub-section (1) of Section 56;
- (zb) the manner of composition of offence by a Gazetted Officer specified under sub-section (4) of Section 56;
- (zc) any other matter which is required to be, or may be, prescribed under the provisions of this Code.
- (3) The Central Government may, subject to the condition of previous publication, make rules for,—
  - (a) the manner of fixing floor wage under sub-section (1) of Section 9;
  - (b) the manner of consultation with State Government under sub-section (3) of Section 9;
  - (c) the manner of making set on or set off for the sixth accounting year under clause (i) of sub-section (7) of Section 26;
  - (d) the manner of making set on or set off for the seventh accounting year under clause (ii) of sub-section (7) of Section 26;
  - (e) the manner of calculating gross profit under clauses (a) and (b) of Section 32;
  - (f) such further sums in respect of employer under clause (c) of Section 34;
  - (g) the manner of utilising the excess of allocable surplus to be carried forward for being set on in the succeeding accounting year and so on up to and inclusive of the fourth accounting year under sub-section (1) of Section 36;
  - (h) the manner of utilising the minimum amount or the deficiency to be carried forward for being set off in the succeeding accounting year and so on up to and inclusive of the fourth accounting year under sub-section (2) of Section 36; and
  - (i) the manner of holding an enquiry under sub-section (1) of Section 53.
- (4) Every rule made by the Central Government under this section shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of Parliament, while it is in session, for a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two or more successive sessions, and if, before the expiry of the session immediately following the session or the successive sessions as aforesaid, both Houses agree in making any modification in the rule or both Houses agree that rule

should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be; so, however, that any such modification or amendment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that rule.

(5) Every rule made by the State Government under this section shall, as soon as possible after it is made, be laid before the State Legislature.

Corresponding Law: S. 26 of PWA, 1936; S. 30 of MWA, 1948; S. 38 of PBA, 1965; S. 13 of ERA, 1976.

Section 67(2)(s) and (t) (to the extent they relate to the Central Advisory Board) enforced w.e.f. 18-12-2020

68. Power to remove difficulties.—(1) If any difficulty arises in giving effect to the provisions of this Code, the Central Government may, by order published in the Official Gazette, make such provisions not inconsistent with the provisions of this Code, as may appear to be necessary for removing the difficulty:

Provided that no such order shall be made under this section after the expiry of a period of three years from the commencement of this Code.

(2) Every order made under this section shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before each House of Parliament.

Corresponding Law: S. 17 of ERA, 1976.

- 69. Repeal and savings.—(1) The Payment of Wages Act, 1936 (4 of 1936), the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 (11 of 1948), the Payment of Bonus Act, 1965 (21 of 1965) and the Equal Remuneration Act, 1976 (25 of 1976) are hereby repealed.
- (2) Notwithstanding such repeal, anything done or any action taken under the enactments so repealed including any notification, nomination, appointment, order or direction made thereunder or any amount of wages provided in any provision of such enactments for any purpose shall be deemed to have been done or taken or provided for such purpose under the corresponding provisions of this Code and shall be in force to the extent they are not contrary to the provisions of this Code till they are repealed under the corresponding provisions of this Code or by the notification to that effect by the Central Government.
- (3) Without prejudice to the provisions of sub-section (2), the provisions of Section 6 of the General Clauses Act, 1897 (10 of 1897) shall apply to the repeal of such enactments.

Corresponding Law: S. 40 of PBA, 1965; S. 18 of ERA, 1976.

Section 69 [to the extent it relates to Sections 7 and 9 (to the extent they relate to the Central Government) and Section 8 of the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 (11 of 1948)] enforced w.e.f. 18-12-2020